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(dollars in thousands, except per-share data) 2004 2003               2002

Total Revenues

Operating Income

Net Income

Earnings Per Share (diluted)

Shareholders’ Equity

$4,555,375

753,589

474,691

$ 2.26

$4,804,520

$3,784,249

526,185

280,664

$ 1.42

$4,262,897

$3,434,347

550,975

351,284

$ 1.76

$4,034,694

Total Revenues ($ millions) Net Income ($ millions) Shareholders’ Equity ($ millions)
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Royal Caribbean Cruises Ltd. is the world’s second
largest cruise company with 29 cruise ships and
60,590 berths. We operate two brands, Royal
Caribbean International and Celebrity Cruises, in the
cruise vacation industry. Royal Caribbean International
is an established brand serving the contemporary and
premium segments of the cruise vacation industry with
19 cruise ships. Hallmarks of the brand include friend-
ly and engaging service, state-of-the-art cruise ships,
family programs, entertainment, health and fitness, and
energizing onboard and shoreside activities designed
for passengers of all ages. Celebrity Cruises serves
primarily the premium segment of the cruise vacation
industry with 10 cruise ships. Celebrity Cruises pro-
vides a unique vacation by offering award-winning cui-
sine, luxurious spa facilities, unique entertainment,

stateroom amenities and personal service with a high
staff-to-passenger ratio. Our cruise ships operate on a
selection of worldwide itineraries that call on approxi-
mately 160 destinations. In conjunction with our cruise
vacations, we offer pre- and post- cruisetours, includ-
ing fully escorted premium land packages. Combined,
our brands carried over 3 million passengers in 2004.
We have three Freedom-class ships on order for an
additional capacity of approximately 10,800 berths
with scheduled deliveries in 2006, 2007 and 2008.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange and the Oslo Stock Exchange under the symbol
RCL. Our headquarters are located in Miami,Florida,U.S.A.,
and we have more than 38,000 employees worldwide.

Our Business



Dear Fellow Shareholders:

It feels great to come off of a year of record
results in 2004 and continue to ride that wave of
momentum into a buoyant 2005. We ended the
year with net income of $474.7 million and a
robust 59 percent increase in earnings per share.

Other milestones achieved in 2004 are equally
noteworthy:

• Royal Caribbean International and Celebrity
Cruises served 3.4 million guests, up from
3.0 million in 2003.

• Occupancy reached 105.7%, up from 103.2%
in 2003, reaching a historic high.

• Driven by a 10.3% increase in capacity and
a record increase in yields of 9.2%, rev-
enues climbed 20.4% to $4.6 billion. 

• Our improved profitability helped reduce net
debt-to-capital ratio from 56.4% at year-end
2003 to 51.5%.

The strength of the Royal Caribbean International
and Celebrity Cruises brands, as well as our
innovative marketing programs, have resulted in
an exceptionally strong demand environment.
We have seen the booking curve return to pre-
9/11 levels, and consumer characteristics are
the strongest we can remember.

2 R O Y A L  C A R I B B E A N  C R U I S E S  L T D .

Chairman’s Letter

Richard D. Fain
Chairman and CEO



While the outlook is bright, we still face chal-
lenges. We’re entering a period of small capac-
ity growth, which means fewer economies of
scale to absorb inflationary and other cost pres-
sures. Fuel costs, in particular, have risen dra-
matically, and we’re actively working to mitigate
their impact. Nevertheless, it’s important to
note that these costs grew from 4.5% of rev-
enue in 2002 to 5.5% in 2004 – a big increase
and incredibly frustrating; but not enough to change
our fundamental business model. 

Going to New Lengths

Royal Caribbean International is literally going
to new lengths to deliver unforgettable vaca-
tion experiences. In September, we announced
that Enchantment of the Seas will become the
third ship in our company’s history to be
lengthened and the first to be stretched in 25
years. Her new 73-foot midsection will add 151
staterooms and many new public spaces. But
after she returns to service in July, the star
attractions will be her dramatic overhanging
decks, suspension bridges, bungee trampo-
lines and interactive splash-pad water feature.
The refurbishment of Enchantment makes
tremendous sense for us from both an eco-
nomic and a strategic standpoint, since we’re

adding substantial revenue without adding
commensurate costs. 

A renovated and renamed Empress of the Seas
(formerly Nordic Empress) received a royal wel-
come in May at our newest cruise port, Cape
Liberty, in Bayonne, N.J. And our oldest ship in the
fleet, Sovereign of the Seas, made a dazzling
impression in December, when she was relaunched
with 62 new balcony staterooms. Her makeover
also included the addition of the Boleros Latin
lounge and the transformation of the Windjammer
Café into the Windjammer Marketplace.

We also announced that we will introduce the
first ship in our new Freedom class, Freedom of
the Seas. Carrying 3,600 guests, Freedom will
be the world’s largest cruise ship when she
arrives next year. More importantly, we believe
she’ll be the world’s most exciting and innova-
tive ship. A second Freedom-class vessel is
scheduled for delivery in 2007, and a third will
enter service in 2008.

In October, Royal Caribbean International
achieved another significant milestone: the
enrollment of the 3 millionth member of the
brand’s Crown & Anchor Society customer loy-
alty program. And, also in October, we entered
into a groundbreaking alliance with the toymak-
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brands, as well as our innovative marketing programs, have resulted 

in an exceptionally strong demand environment.



er Fisher-Price Inc., a subsidiary of Mattel Inc.,
to develop a new series of programs for our
youngest cruisers, age 6 months to 36 months.

At year’s end, the Royal Caribbean brand dove
into Wave Season with the launch of a cold-
weather version of the acclaimed “Get Out
There” advertising campaign on select national
television stations and in key local markets in the
Northeast and Midwest. Ads ran whenever snow
cover reached three inches or more or when the
temperatures dropped below 20 degrees.
Belowground, subway passengers looking out
their windows in Boston and New York City saw
the innovative spots appear as a moving filmstrip.

Royal Caribbean earned its share of accolades
in 2004. The brand’s numerous awards included
being named the Best Overall Cruise Line in
Travel Weekly’s annual poll of travel agents.

Reaching New Heights of Luxury

For Celebrity Cruises, our premium cruise brand,
2004 was a truly remarkable year. For the third
consecutive year, Celebrity swept Condé Nast
Traveler’s reader survey ranking “The Best Cruise
Ships in the World.” Seven of the brand’s ships –
every vessel in the fleet that falls within the large-
ship category – ranked among the top 11.

Just a year after the introduction of ConciergeClass,
consumer demand prompted Celebrity to expand
the category of enhanced amenities and services
across its Millennium-class fleet. Beginning in 2005,
the number of ConciergeClass staterooms will
more than double, from 100 to 228 per ship, on
Constellation, Infinity, Millennium and Summit.

In March, we unveiled an exclusive, six-year part-
nership with the world-renowned entertainment
organization Cirque du Soleil. Constellation and
Summit are the first Celebrity ships to offer a unique
entertainment experience involving whimsical char-
acters directly interacting with guests, accompanied
by high-tech visual and auditory effects. 

Introduced in June, Celebrity Xpeditions takes
guests to some of the world’s most exotic desti-
nations for once-in-a-lifetime travel experiences.
In addition to extremely well-received journeys to
the Galapagos Islands and Moscow, Celebrity is
introducing new Xpeditions to coincide with every
major cruise itinerary. The 2005 lineup includes
explorations of the Great Pyramids of Egypt, the
Lost City of the Incas in Machu Picchu and Easter
Island, with its mysterious Moai statues.

To complement the award-winning cuisine of
Master Chef Michel Roux, the brand introduced
in October its own line of proprietary wines: the
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Celebrity Cruises Cellarmaster Selection™. The
first two varietals, a 2002 Russian River Valley
Chardonnay and a 2001 Sonoma County
Cabernet Sauvignon, earned Gold and Silver
medals, respectively, at the recent American
Wine Society Commercial Wine Competition.

Increasing Our Presence

We continue to identify new opportunities for
growth both at home and abroad. Royal Caribbean
recently unveiled four land packages to pair with
the brand’s European cruises: one to London and
Paris, two to Spain and one to the historic English
cities of London and York. Strong demand also has
led us to redeploy Legend of the Seas to Europe in
May 2005. Legend will sail from Southampton,
England, through the end of September to destina-
tions in the Canary Islands and the Mediterranean,
before a transatlantic voyage to Tampa to begin
cruises in the Western Caribbean this winter.

We announced in December that Horizon will leave
the Celebrity fleet this fall under a six-year lease
agreement with Island Cruises, our joint venture
with British tour operator First Choice Holidays
PLC. After being turned over to Island Cruises in
October, Horizon will enter drydock for an exten-
sive refurbishment, including the addition of two

restaurants, 59 staterooms and 50 balconies. The
ship, to be renamed Island Star, will enter service
in December, sailing from Brazil during winters and
in the Mediterranean in the summer months.

Delineating the Brands

In December, we created two distinct sales
teams for Royal Caribbean and Celebrity to bet-
ter communicate each brand’s distinctive quali-
ties to our trade partners and guests. We also
are increasing the level of local sales support for
our travel partners. In December, we rolled out a
new home-based portal on the CruisingPower.com
web site specifically designed for the home-based
agency community. And, the new Royal Caribbean
Partners@Home and Celebrity Connect@Home
offer local sales support from each brand’s ded-
icated sales force. 

Safeguarding Our Oceans

On the environmental front, 2004 was a year of
major achievements. Our pursuit of advanced
technologies that protect the oceans earned Royal
Caribbean an Excellence in Environmental
Engineering Award from the American Academy of
Environmental Engineers. Jewel of the Seas also
received an Environmental Life Buoy Certificate
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For the third consecutive year, Celebrity swept Condé Nast Traveler’s
reader survey ranking “The Best Cruise Ships in the World.”
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from the Port of Stockholm, and Jewel, Brilliance
of the Seas and Majesty of the Seas won Green
Planet Awards from Kuoni Travel, one of the
world’s largest travel companies.

In 2003, we announced our commitment to install
Advanced Wastewater Purification (AWP) sys-
tems fleetwide, once the technology proved to
be environmentally, operationally and economi-
cally feasible. We have made significant progress
since then, and have now installed two additional
systems – one on Celebrity’s Infinity and one on
Royal Caribbean’s Serenade of the Seas. Our
remaining ships and newbuilds are being outfitted
with AWP systems as quickly as practical.

What Makes Us Strong
Our greatest asset is our strong management team
and the men and women who work so enthusiasti-
cally to provide the best vacations in the world.
Earlier this year, we announced a significant set of
organizational changes. Jack Williams announced
that he will leave his post as president and chief
operating officer in order to devote more time to the
philanthropic works to which he has long been ded-
icated. The company has grown dramatically in size,
quality and profitability during Jack’s tenure, and we
will miss him. Fortunately, the depth of management
talent here is remarkable. Adam Goldstein and Dan

Hanrahan have assumed the positions of president
of Royal Caribbean International and Celebrity
Cruises, respectively. I have every confidence that
they will build on our existing momentum and lead
their brands to new heights.

Our success stems from more than our superior
mix of great ships, unparalleled service and inno-
vative amenities. It also flows from the creative
thinking and flexibility of almost 40,000 shoreside
and shipboard employees. They are responsible
for the development and execution of the strate-
gies and initiatives that have solidified our two
brands as the top-rated cruise lines in their
respective markets. To them, I say “thank you.”

I would also like to express my appreciation to the
members of our Board of Directors for their con-
tinued support and confidence. In addition, our
Board has focused on ensuring that our corporate
governance framework and execution reach the
highest standards. This has required great effort
by all and I appreciate their focus here, too.

Sincerely,

Richard D. Fain
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer



8 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

17 Management’s Report on Internal Control 

Over Financial Reporting

18 Report of Independent Registered 

Public Accounting Firm

19 Consolidated Statements of Operations

20 Consolidated Balance Sheets

21 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

22 Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

23 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R O Y A L  C A R I B B E A N  C R U I S E S  L T D . 7

FINANCIAL TABLE OF CONTENTS



As used in this document, the terms “Royal Caribbean,”
“Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to Royal Caribbean
Cruises Ltd., the term “Celebrity” refers to Celebrity Cruise
Lines Inc. and the terms “Royal Caribbean International” and
“Celebrity Cruises” refer to our two cruise brands. In accordance
with cruise vacation industry practice, the term “berths” is deter-
mined based on double occupancy per cabin even though
many cabins can accommodate three or more passengers.

Certain statements under this caption “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” in our letter to shareholders and elsewhere in this
document constitute forward-looking statements under the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Words such
as “expect,” “anticipate,” “goal,” “project,” “plan,” “believe,”
“seek,” and similar expressions are intended to identify these
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements do not
guarantee future performance and may involve risks, uncertain-
ties and other factors which could cause our actual results, per-
formance or achievements to differ materially from the future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied in
those forward-looking statements. Examples of these risks,
uncertainties and other factors include, but are not limited to:

• general economic and business conditions, 

• vacation industry competition, including cruise vacation
industry competition,

• changes in vacation industry capacity, including over capacity
in the cruise vacation industry,

• the impact of tax laws and regulations affecting our business
or our principal shareholders,

• the impact of changes in other laws and regulations affecting
our business,

• the impact of pending or threatened litigation, 

• the delivery of scheduled new ships, 

• emergency ship repairs, 

• negative incidents involving cruise ships including those
involving the health and safety of passengers,

• reduced consumer demand for cruises as a result of any number
of reasons, including geo-political and economic uncertainties, the
unavailability of air service, armed conflict, terrorist attacks and the
resulting concerns over safety and security aspects of traveling,

• our ability to obtain financing on terms that are favorable or
consistent with our expectations,

• changes in our stock price or principal stockholders, 

• the impact of changes in operating and financing costs,
including changes in foreign currency and interest rates and
fuel, food, payroll, insurance and security costs, and 

• weather. 

The examples are not exhaustive and new risks emerge from
time to time. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or
revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of
new information, future events or otherwise.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. (See Note 1. General and Note 2. Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial
statements.) Certain of our accounting policies are deemed
“critical,” as they require management’s highest degree of
judgment, estimates and assumptions. We have discussed
these accounting policies and estimates with the audit com-
mittee of our board of directors. We believe our most critical
accounting policies are as follows:

SHIP ACCOUNTING

Our ships represent our most significant assets and are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortization.
Depreciation of ships, which includes amortization of ships
under capital leases, is computed net of a 15% projected resid-
ual value using the straight-line method over estimated service
lives of primarily 30 years. Improvement costs that we believe
add value to our ships are capitalized as additions to the ship
and depreciated over the improvements’ estimated useful
lives. The estimated cost and accumulated depreciation of
refurbished or replaced ship components are written-off and
any resulting gain or loss is recognized in cruise operating
expenses. Repairs and maintenance activities are charged to
expense as incurred and drydocking costs are accrued evenly
over the period to the next scheduled drydocking.

Our service life and residual value estimates take into consid-
eration the impact of anticipated technological changes, long-
term cruise and vacation market conditions and historical use-
ful lives of similarly-built ships. In addition, we take into consid-
eration our estimates of the average useful lives of the ships’
major component systems, such as hull, superstructure, main
electric, engines and cabins. Given the very large and complex
nature of our ships, our accounting estimates related to ships
and determinations of ship improvement costs to be capitalized
require considerable judgment and are inherently uncertain. We
do not have cost segregation studies performed to specifically
componentize our ship systems; therefore, we estimate the
costs of component systems based principally on general and
technical information known about major ship component sys-
tems and their lives and our knowledge of the cruise vacation
industry. We do not identify and track depreciation by ship
component systems, but instead utilize these estimates to
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determine the net cost basis of assets replaced or refurbished.

We believe we have made reasonable estimates for ship
accounting purposes. However, should certain factors or cir-
cumstances cause us to revise our estimates of ship service
lives or projected residual values, depreciation expense
could be materially higher or lower. If circumstances cause
us to change our assumptions in making determinations as
to whether ship improvements should be capitalized, the
amounts we expense each year as repairs and maintenance
costs could increase, partially offset by a decrease in depre-
ciation expense. If we had reduced our estimated average
30-year ship service life by one year, depreciation expense
for 2004 would have increased by approximately $13 million.
Further, if our ships were estimated to have no residual
value, depreciation expense for 2004 would have increased
by approximately $70 million.

VALUATION OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS AND GOODWILL
We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carry-
ing amount of these assets may not be fully recoverable.
The assessment of possible impairment is based on our
ability to recover the carrying value of our asset based on
our estimate of its undiscounted future cash flows. If these
estimated future cash flows were less than the carrying
value of the asset, an impairment charge would be recog-
nized for the difference between the asset’s estimated fair
value and its carrying value. 

The determination of fair value is based on quoted market
prices in active markets, if available. Such markets are often
not available for used cruise ships. Accordingly, we also base
fair value on independent appraisals, sales price negotiations
and projected future cash flows discounted at a rate deter-
mined by management to be commensurate with our business
risk. The estimation of fair value utilizing discounted forecasted
cash flows includes numerous uncertainties which require our
significant judgment when making assumptions of revenues,
operating costs, marketing, selling and administrative expens-
es, interest rates, ship additions and retirements, cruise vaca-
tion industry competition and general economic and business
conditions, among other factors.

Goodwill is reviewed annually or whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of goodwill
may not be fully recoverable. The impairment review consists
of comparing the fair value of goodwill to the carrying value. If
the carrying value exceeds the fair value, an impairment charge
would be recognized for the difference between the carrying
value and the fair value. We use the market capitalization
method in determining the fair value of our goodwill. If, under

certain circumstances, this method is not representative of fair
value, we use a present value of future cash flows approach.

We believe we have made reasonable estimates and judg-
ments in determining whether our long-lived assets and good-
will have been impaired; however, if there is a material change
in the assumptions used in our determination of fair values or if
there is a material change in the conditions or circumstances
influencing fair value, we could be required to recognize a
material impairment charge.

CONTINGENCIES – LITIGATION

On an ongoing basis, we assess the potential liabilities related
to any lawsuits or claims brought against us. While it is typical-
ly very difficult to determine the timing and ultimate outcome of
such actions, we use our best judgment to determine if it is
probable that we will incur an expense related to the settlement
or final adjudication of such matters and whether a reasonable
estimation of such probable loss, if any, can be made. In
assessing probable losses, we take into consideration esti-
mates of the amount of insurance recoveries, if any. We accrue
a liability when we believe a loss is probable and the amount of
loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to the inherent uncer-
tainties related to the eventual outcome of litigation and poten-
tial insurance recoveries, it is possible that certain matters may
be resolved for amounts materially different from any provi-
sions or disclosures that we have previously made.

TERMINOLOGY

Available Passenger Cruise Days (“APCD”) are our measure-
ment of capacity and represent double occupancy per cabin
multiplied by the number of cruise days for the period.

Gross Cruise Costs represent the sum of total cruise operating
expenses plus marketing, selling and administrative expenses.

Gross Yields represent total revenues per APCD.

Net Cruise Costs represent Gross Cruise Costs excluding
commissions, transportation and other expenses and onboard
and other expenses (each of which is described under the
Summary of Historical Results of Operations heading). In meas-
uring our ability to control costs in a manner that positively
impacts net income, we believe changes in Net Cruise Costs to
be the most relevant indicator of our performance. We have not
provided a quantitative reconciliation of projected Gross Cruise
Costs to projected Net Cruise Costs due to the significant
uncertainty in projecting the costs deducted to arrive at this
measure. Accordingly, we do not believe that reconciling infor-
mation for such projected figures would be meaningful.
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Net Yields represent Gross Yields less commissions, trans-
portation and other expenses and onboard and other expens-
es (each of which is described under the Summary of Historical
Results of Operations heading) per APCD. We utilize Net
Yields to manage our business on a day-to-day basis and
believe that it is the most relevant measure of our pricing per-
formance. We have not provided a quantitative reconciliation of
projected Gross Yields to projected Net Yields due to the sig-
nificant uncertainty in projecting the costs deducted to arrive at
this measure. Accordingly, we do not believe that reconciling
information for such projected figures would be meaningful.

Occupancy Percentage, in accordance with cruise vacation
industry practice, is calculated by dividing Passenger Cruise
Days by APCD. A percentage in excess of 100% indicates that
three or more passengers occupied some cabins.

Passenger Cruise Days represent the number of passengers
carried for the period multiplied by the number of days of their
respective cruises.

OVERVIEW

Our revenues consist of the following:

Passenger ticket revenues consist of revenue recognized from
the sale of passenger tickets and the sale of air transportation
to our ships.

Onboard and other revenues consist primarily of revenues
from the sale of goods and/or services onboard our ships, can-
cellation fees, sales of vacation protection insurance and pre
and post tours. Also included are revenues we receive from
independent third party concessionaires that pay us a percent-
age of their revenues in exchange for the right to provide
selected goods and/or services onboard our ships.

Our cruise operating expenses consist of the following:

Commissions, transportation and other expenses consist of
those costs directly associated with passenger ticket rev-
enues, including travel agent commissions, air and other trans-
portation expenses, port costs that vary with passenger head
counts and related credit card fees.

Onboard and other expenses consist of the direct costs asso-
ciated with onboard and other revenues. These costs include
the cost of products sold onboard our ships, vacation protec-
tion insurance premiums, costs associated with pre and post
tours and related credit card fees. Concession revenues have
minimal costs associated with them, as the costs related to
these activities are incurred by the concessionaires.

Payroll and related expenses consist of costs for shipboard personnel.

Food expenses include food costs for both passengers and crew.

Other operating expenses consist of operating costs such as fuel,
repairs and maintenance, port costs that do not vary with passenger
head counts, insurance, entertainment and all other operating costs.

We do not allocate payroll and related costs, food costs or other
operating costs to the expense categories attributable to pas-
senger ticket revenues or onboard and other revenues since
they are incurred to provide the total cruise vacation experience.

SUMMARY OF HISTORICAL RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
We reported historical total revenues, operating income, net
income and earnings per share as shown in the following table
(in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Total revenues $4,555,375 $3,784,249 $3,434,347
Operating income 753,589 526,185 550,975
Net income 474,691 280,664 351,284
Basic earnings

per share $ 2.39 $ 1.45 $ 1.82
Diluted earnings 

per share1 $ 2.26 $ 1.42 $ 1.76 

1 We adopted the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force 04-8 “Accounting
Issues Related to Certain Features of Contingently Convertible Debt and the
Effect on Diluted Earnings Per Share,” (“EITF 04-8”) in our fourth quarter of 2004
and restated prior period diluted earnings per share amounts for comparative pur-
poses. The implementation of EITF 04-8 did not change our previously reported
2003 diluted earnings per share; however, it reduced our previously reported
2002 diluted earnings per share by $0.03. 

Unaudited selected historical statistical information is shown in
the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Passengers Carried 3,405,227 2,990,607 2,768,475
Passenger Cruise Days 22,661,965 20,064,702 18,112,782
APCD 21,439,288 19,439,238 17,334,204
Occupancy Percentage 105.7% 103.2% 104.5%
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The following table presents historical operating data as a
percentage of total revenues for the last three years:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Passenger ticket revenues 73.7 73.3 75.4
Onboard and other revenues 26.3 26.7 24.6

Total revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cruise operating expenses

Commissions, 
transportation and other 18.1 18.1 19.5

Onboard and other 6.6 6.6 6.1
Payroll and related 10.7 11.3 9.2
Food 5.9 6.3 7.4
Other operating 20.6 20.6 19.3

Total cruise operating expenses 61.9 62.9 61.5
Marketing, selling and

administrative expenses 12.9 13.6 12.6
Depreciation and 

amortization expenses 8.7 9.6 9.9

Operating income 16.5 13.9 16.0
Other income (expense) (6.1) (6.5) (5.8)

Net income 10.4% 7.4% 10.2%

Net income was $474.7 million or $2.26 per share on a dilut-
ed basis in 2004, compared to $280.7 million or $1.42 per
share in 2003 and $351.3 million or $1.76 per share in 2002.
Revenues for 2004 increased 20.4% to $4.6 billion from rev-
enues of $3.8 billion in 2003. The increase in revenues was a
result of a 10.3% increase in capacity along with increases in
cruise ticket prices, occupancy levels and onboard revenues
as consumer sentiment towards leisure travel improved in
2004. During 2004, Net Yields increased 9.2% compared to
2003. Cruise operating expenses increased 18.4% in 2004
compared to 2003 primarily as a result of increases in capac-
ity, the effect of higher cruise ticket prices on commission
expenses and higher fuel prices. Net Cruise Costs per APCD
increased 5.6% in 2004 compared to 2003. In addition, net
income in 2004 included costs of approximately $11.3 million
related to the impact of hurricanes. 

Revenues in 2003 increased 10.2% to $3.8 billion from rev-
enues of $3.4 billion in 2002. The increase in revenues was
a result of a 12.1% increase in capacity, partially offset by
lower cruise ticket prices and occupancy levels. In 2003

and 2002, our business was adversely impacted by the ter-
rorist attacks of September 11, 2001, the war in Iraq, the
economy and the publicity surrounding Severe Acute
Respiratory Syndrome and noroviruses. As a result, we
experienced lower cruise ticket prices attributed to con-
sumer apprehension towards travel. Net income in 2002
included a charge of $20.0 million recorded in connection
with a litigation settlement. In 2003, we reduced the
amount of the charge by approximately $5.8 million based
on the actual number of claims filed. Net income in 2002
also included net proceeds of $33.0 million received in con-
nection with the termination of our merger agreement with
P&O Princess Cruises plc (“P&O Princess”). (See Note 3.
Termination of Proposed Combination with P&O Princess
Cruises plc to our consolidated financial statements.)

OUTLOOK

Consumer demand is healthy across all products and for
both brands. Many of the demand characteristics are similar
to those we experienced in the late 1990’s. As a result, we
expect Net Yields for the first quarter of 2005 to increase
approximately 7% and, for the full year 2005, to increase in
the range of 5% to 7%.

We also expect that in 2005 we will have a relatively small
capacity increase of 1.6%, which means fewer economies
of scale to absorb inflationary and other cost pressures. In
addition, uncertainty about fuel costs makes forecasting dif-
ficult. We previously said that assuming the yearly average
at-the-pump price of fuel in 2005 is the same as the yearly
average in 2004 and adjusting for fewer fuel hedges, we
expected Net Cruise Costs to increase in the range of 2%
to 3% per APCD. Expected fuel prices for the first quarter
of 2005 are about 11% higher than the 2004 yearly average.
Assuming at-the-pump fuel prices are 11% higher for the
remainder of 2005 than the 2004 average, our Net Cruise
Costs per APCD would increase by an additional 1%, or
approximately $23 million, as compared to the previous
guidance. This increase is after taking into account the ben-
efit  of our fuel hedges.  In addition, the timing of certain
expenses, including marketing, has been deferred from the
first quarter to later in the year. 

We also expect depreciation and amortization to be in the
range of $410 million to $420 million and net interest expense
to be in the range of $305 million to $315 million in 2005.
Additionally, 2005 will be the initial year we accrue income
taxes associated with the final regulations under Internal
Revenue Code Section 883. We expect the application of the
final regulations to reduce 2005 diluted earnings per share by
approximately $0.04 to $0.05.
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Other items affecting 2005 include the following:

• In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment,”
(“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R requires the measurement and
recognition of compensation expense at the fair value of
employee stock awards, except for employee share purchase
plans if they meet certain conditions. We expect this change
to reduce diluted earnings per share by approximately $0.02.

• Enchantment of the Seas is scheduled to undergo a length-
ening in the spring of 2005 with a new 73-foot midsection. In
connection with this project, the ship will be out of service
from May until early July 2005. In addition to lost revenue
associated with a decrease in APCD, we expect expenses
associated with this project to reduce diluted earnings per
share by approximately $0.04.

Including the revised assumption for fuel and our expectations
concerning other items set forth above, we now expect diluted
earnings per share for the first quarter of 2005 to be in the
range of $0.55 to $0.60.  Notwithstanding the revised assump-
tion for fuel, our expectation for full year 2005 diluted earnings
per share remains unchanged in the range of $2.70 to $2.90.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 COMPARED TO
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

REVENUES
Gross Yields and Net Yields were calculated as follows (in
thousands, except APCD and Yields):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003

Passenger ticket revenues $ 3,359,201 $ 2,775,055
Onboard and other revenues 1,196,174 1,009,194

Total revenues 4,555,375 3,784,249

Less:
Commissions, transportation

and other ,822,206 684,344
Onboard and other ,300,717 249,537

Net revenues $ 3,432,452 $ 2,850,368

APCD 21,439,288 19,439,238
Gross Yields $ 212.48 $ 194.67
Net Yields $ 160.10 $ 146.63

Net revenues increased 20.4% in 2004 compared to 2003. The
increase was due to a 10.3% increase in capacity and a 9.2%
increase in Net Yields. The increase in capacity was primarily
associated with the full year effect of the additions of Serenade
of the Seas and Mariner of the Seas in 2003 and delivery of
Jewel of the Seas in 2004. The increase in capacity was par-
tially offset by the cancellation of 54 days of sailings in 2004
due to hurricanes and unscheduled drydocks. The increase in
Net Yields was primarily due to higher cruise ticket prices,
occupancy levels and amounts spent per passenger onboard.
These increases were primarily attributable to improved con-
sumer sentiment towards leisure travel. In 2003, we experi-
enced lower cruise ticket prices due to consumer apprehen-
sion towards travel prior to and during the war in Iraq and eco-
nomic uncertainty. Occupancy in 2004 was 105.7% compared
to 103.2% in 2003. Gross Yields increased 9.1% in 2004 com-
pared to 2003 primarily due to the same reasons discussed
above for Net Yields.

Onboard and other revenues included concession revenues of
$196.3 million and $163.0 million in 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively, which increased in 2004 primarily due to the same rea-
sons discussed above for net revenues.

EXPENSES
Gross Cruise Costs and Net Cruise Costs were calculated as
follows (in thousands, except APCD and costs per APCD):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003

Total cruise operating expenses $ 2,819,383 $ 2,381,035
Marketing, selling and

administrative expenses ,588,267 514,334

Gross Cruise Costs 3,407,650 2,895,369

Less: 
Commissions, transportation

and other ,822,206 684,344
Onboard and other ,300,717 249,537

Net Cruise Costs $ 2,284,727 $ 1,961,488

APCD 21,439,288 19,439,238
Gross Cruise Costs per APCD $ 158.94 $ 148.94
Net Cruise Costs per APCD $ 106.57 $ 100.90
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Net Cruise Costs increased 16.5% in 2004 compared to 2003.
The increase was due to the 10.3% increase in capacity men-
tioned above and a 5.6% increase in Net Cruise Costs per
APCD. The increase in Net Cruise Costs per APCD was pri-
marily attributed to increases in fuel prices, marketing, selling
and administrative expenses, crew salaries and medical
expenses, port expenses and costs associated with hurri-
canes. The weighted-average fuel price (net of the financial
impact of fuel swap agreements) for the year ended December
31, 2004 increased 14% per metric ton from the year ended
December 31, 2003. As a percentage of total revenues, fuel
costs were 5.5% and 5.2% for 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The increase in marketing, selling and administrative expenses
was primarily attributable to increases in general and adminis-
trative costs associated with the expansion of our reservations
and sales force and additional information technology projects.
In addition, advertising costs increased primarily due to an
increase in television media spending and the launch of the
Cirque du Soleil and Xpeditions marketing campaigns for
Celebrity Cruises. The increase in port expenses was primarily
attributed to itinerary changes. In 2004, we incurred approxi-
mately $11.3 million in costs related to the impact of hurri-
canes. In 2003, other operating expenses were reduced by
approximately $5.8 million in connection with a litigation settle-
ment. Gross Cruise Costs per APCD increased 6.7% in 2004
compared to 2003 primarily due to the same reasons dis-
cussed above for Net Cruise Costs per APCD.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased 8.7% in
2004 compared to 2003. The increase was primarily due to
incremental depreciation associated with the full year effect of
the addition of two new ships in 2003 and one new ship in 2004.

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Gross interest expense increased to $317.2 million in 2004
from $284.3 million in 2003. The increase was primarily attrib-
utable to a higher average debt level and higher interest rates.
Interest capitalized during 2004 decreased to $7.2 million from
$15.9 million in 2003 due to a lower average level of invest-
ment in ships under construction.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003 COMPARED TO
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

REVENUES
Gross Yields and Net Yields were calculated as follows (in
thousands, except APCD and Yields):

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002

Passenger ticket revenues $ 2,775,055 $ 2,589,942
Onboard and other revenues 1,009,194 844,405

Total revenues 3,784,249 3,434,347

Less:
Commissions, transportation

and other ,684,344 669,177
Onboard and other ,249,537 208,231

Net revenues $ 2,850,368 $ 2,556,939

APCD 19,439,238 17,334,204
Gross Yields $ 194.67 $ 198.13
Net Yields $ 146.63 $ 147.51

Net revenues increased 11.5% in 2003 compared to 2002. The
increase was due to a 12.1% increase in capacity, offset by a
0.6% decrease in Net Yields. The increase in capacity was pri-
marily associated with the full year effect of the additions of
Constellation, Brilliance of the Seas and Navigator of the Seas
in 2002 and the addition of two new ships in 2003. The increase
in capacity was partially offset by the cancellation of 46 days of
sailings in 2003 due to unscheduled drydocks and the transfer
of Viking Serenade to Island Cruises, our joint venture with First
Choice Holidays PLC, in 2002. The decrease in Net Yields was
primarily due to lower cruise ticket prices and occupancy levels
attributable to consumer apprehension towards travel prior to
and during the war in Iraq and economic uncertainty. The
decrease was partially offset by an increase in net onboard and
other revenues due to the assumption of certain onboard func-
tions previously handled by a concessionaire. Occupancy in
2003 was 103.2% compared to 104.5% in 2002. Gross Yields
decreased 1.7% in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily due to the
same reasons discussed above for Net Yields.

Onboard and other revenues included concession revenues of
$163.0 million and $162.0 million in 2003 and 2002, respec-
tively, which increased in 2003 primarily due to the same rea-
sons discussed above for net revenues.
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EXPENSES
Gross Cruise Costs and Net Cruise Costs were calculated as
follows (in thousands, except APCD and costs per APCD):

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002

Total cruise operating expenses $ 2,381,035 $ 2,113,217
Marketing, selling and 

administrative expenses ,514,334 431,055

Gross Cruise Costs 2,895,369 2,544,272

Less: 
Commissions, transportation

and other ,684,344 669,177
Onboard and other ,249,537 208,231

Net Cruise Costs $ 1,961,488 $ 1,666,864

APCD 19,439,238 17,334,204
Gross Cruise Costs per APCD $ 148.94 $ 146.78
Net Cruise Costs per APCD $ 100.90 $ 96.16

Net Cruise Costs increased 17.7% in 2003 compared to 2002
due to the 12.1% increase in capacity discussed above and a
4.9% increase in Net Cruise Costs per APCD. The increase in
Net Cruise Costs per APCD was primarily attributed to the
assumption of certain onboard functions previously handled by a
concessionaire, fuel prices, the full year impact of the Brilliance
of the Seas lease payments and new initiatives associated with
the Celebrity Cruises marketing campaign. The change in the
concession arrangement resulted in higher payroll and related
expenses and onboard and other expenses, partially offset by a
decrease in food costs. Fuel costs as a percentage of total rev-
enues were 5.2% and 4.5% for 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The increase in Net Cruise Costs per APCD in 2003 was further
impacted by the fact that 2002 reflected lower spending levels
as a result of business decisions taken subsequent to the events
of September 11, 2001. In addition, included in other operating
expenses in 2002 was a charge of $20.0 million recorded in con-
nection with a litigation settlement. In 2003, we reduced the
amount of the charge by approximately $5.8 million based on the
actual number of claims filed. Gross Cruise Costs per APCD
increased 1.5% in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily due to the
same reasons discussed above for Net Cruise Costs per APCD.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased 7.0% in 2003
compared to 2002. The increase was primarily due to incremen-
tal depreciation associated with the full year effect of the addi-

tion of two new ships in 2002 and two new ships in 2003.

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Gross interest expense decreased to $284.3 million in 2003
from $290.3 million in 2002. The decrease was primarily attrib-
utable to lower interest rates. Interest capitalized during 2003
decreased to $15.9 million from $23.4 million in 2002 due to a
lower average level of investment in ships under construction
and lower interest rates.

Included in other income in 2002 was $33.0 million of net pro-
ceeds received in connection with the termination of the P&O
Princess merger agreement and $12.3 million of compensation
from shipyards related to the late delivery of ships.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

SOURCES AND USES OF CASH

Net cash provided by operating activities was $1.1 billion in
2004 compared to $0.9 billion in both 2003 and 2002. The
increase in 2004 compared to 2003 was primarily due to an
increase in net income. When comparing 2003 to 2002, the
decrease in net income was partially offset by an increase in
customer deposits due to the timing of cash receipts.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, our capital expendi-
tures were approximately $0.6 billion compared to approximate-
ly $1.0 billion in 2003 and $1.0 billion in 2002. Capital expendi-
tures were primarily related to the deliveries of Jewel of the Seas
in 2004; Serenade of the Seas and Mariner of the Seas in 2003;
and Constellation and Navigator of the Seas in 2002, as well as
progress payments for ships under construction in all years.

Interest capitalized during 2004 decreased to $7.2 million from
$15.9 million in 2003 and $23.4 million in 2002 due to a lower
average level of investment in ships under construction.

During 2004, we drew $225.0 million on an unsecured variable rate
term loan due 2006 through 2012. During 2003, we received net
cash proceeds of $590.5 million from the issuance of senior unse-
cured notes due through 2013. During 2002, we obtained financ-
ing of $320.0 million related to the acquisition of Constellation. (See
Note 6. Long-Term Debt to our consolidated financial statements.)

In July 2002, we financed the addition of Brilliance of the Seas to
our fleet by novating our original ship building contract and enter-
ing into an operating lease denominated in British pound sterling.
In connection with the novation of the contract, we received
$77.7 million for reimbursement of shipyard deposits previously
made. (See Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies to our
consolidated financial statements.)
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We made principal payments totaling approximately $361.4
million, $231.1 million and $603.3 million under various term
loans, senior notes, revolving credit facilities and capital leases
during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, we received $98.3 million, $46.0
million and $6.6 million, respectively, in connection with the
exercise of common stock options and we paid quarterly cash
dividends on our common stock totaling $104.5 million, $98.3
million and $100.1 million, respectively.

FUTURE CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As of December 31, 2004, we had two Freedom-class ships on
order for an additional capacity of approximately 7,200 berths
with scheduled deliveries in the second quarters of 2006 and

2007. The estimated aggregate cost of the ships is approxi-
mately $1.6 billion, of which we have deposited $137.8 million
as of December 31, 2004. (See Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk.)

We anticipate total capital expenditures, including the two
Freedom-class ships on order, will be approximately $0.4 billion,
$1.0 billion and $1.0 billion for 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As of December 31, 2004, our contractual obligations were as
follows (in thousands):
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Payments due by period

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years

Long-term debt obligations(1) (2) $5,384,284 $  ,881,256 $1,098,588 $ ,949,815 $2,454,625
Capital lease obligations ,347,660 ,024,118 0,054,154 ,063,129 ,206,259
Operating lease obligations(3) (4) ,665,984 ,050,770 0,096,860 ,094,228 ,424,126
Ship purchase obligations(5) 1,306,462 ,108,064 1,198,398 — —
Other(6) ,260,916 ,051,888 ,086,608 ,046,015 ,076,405

Total $7,965,306 $1,116,096 $2,534,608 $1,153,187 $3,161,415

(1) Amounts exclude interest, except for the accreted value of our zero coupon convertible notes and Liquid Yield Option™ Notes.

(2) The $408.5 million accreted value of the zero coupon convertible notes at December 31, 2004 is included in the three to five years category. The $694.3 million accret-
ed value of the Liquid Yield Option™ Notes at December 31, 2004 is included in the more than five years category. The holders of our zero coupon convertible notes
and our Liquid Yield Option™ Notes may require us to purchase any notes outstanding at an accreted value of $501.7 million on May 18, 2009 and $930.8 million on
February 2, 2011, respectively. These accreted values were calculated based on the number of notes outstanding at December 31, 2004. We may choose to pay any
amounts in cash or common stock or a combination thereof.

(3) We are obligated under noncancelable operating leases primarily for a ship, offices, warehouses, computer equipment and motor vehicles.

(4) Under the Brilliance of the Seas lease agreement, we may be required to make a termination payment of approximately £126 million, or approximately $242 million
based on the exchange rate at December 31, 2004, if the lease is canceled in 2012. This amount is included in the more than five years category. (See Note 12.
Commitments and Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements.)

(5) Amounts represent contractual obligations with initial terms in excess of one year.

(6) Amounts represent future commitments with remaining terms in excess of one year to pay for our usage of certain port facilities, marine consumables, services and
maintenance contracts.

Our off-balance sheet arrangements consist primarily of operat-
ing lease commitments as discussed in Note 12. Commitments
and Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements.
Under the Brilliance of the Seas operating lease, we have agreed
to indemnify the lessor to the extent its after-tax return is nega-
tively impacted by unfavorable changes in corporate tax rates
and capital allowance deductions. These indemnifications could
result in an increase in our lease payments. We are unable to
estimate the maximum potential increase in such lease pay-

ments due to the various circumstances, timing or combination
of events that could trigger such indemnifications. Under current
circumstances we do not believe an indemnification is probable. 

Some of the contracts that we enter into include indemnification pro-
visions that obligate us to make payments to the counterparty if cer-
tain events occur. These contingencies generally relate to changes
in taxes, increased lender capital costs and other similar costs. The
indemnification clauses are often standard contractual terms and are



entered into in the normal course of business. There are no stated
or notional amounts included in the indemnification clauses and we
are not able to estimate the maximum potential amount of future
payments, if any, under these indemnification clauses. We have not
been required to make any payments under such indemnification
clauses in the past and, under current circumstances, we do not
believe an indemnification in any material amount is probable.

As a normal part of our business, depending on market condi-
tions, pricing and our overall growth strategy, we continuously
consider opportunities to enter into contracts for the building of
additional ships. We may also consider the sale of ships. We con-
tinuously consider potential acquisitions and strategic alliances. If
any of these were to occur, they would be financed through the
incurrence of additional indebtedness, the issuance of additional
shares of equity securities or through cash flows from operations.

FUNDING SOURCES

As of December 31, 2004, our liquidity was $1.6 billion consisting
of approximately $0.6 billion in cash and cash equivalents and $1.0
billion available under our unsecured revolving credit facility. (See
Note 6. Long-Term Debt to our consolidated financial statements.)
Capital expenditures and scheduled debt payments will be funded
through a combination of cash flows from operations, drawdowns
under our available credit facility, the incurrence of additional
indebtedness and the sales of equity or debt securities in private
or public securities markets. There can be no assurances that
cash flows from operations and additional financing from external
sources will be available in accordance with our expectations.

Our financing agreements contain covenants that require us,
among other things, to maintain minimum net worth, and fixed
charge coverage ratio and limit our debt to capital ratio. We were
in compliance with all covenants as of December 31, 2004.

If A. Wilhelmsen AS. and Cruise Associates, our two principal
shareholders, cease to own a specified percentage of our com-
mon stock, we may be obligated to prepay indebtedness out-
standing under the majority of our credit facilities, which we
may be unable to replace on similar terms. If this were to occur,
it could have an adverse impact on our liquidity and operations.

We believe our existing credit facility, cash flows from opera-
tions and our ability to obtain new borrowings and/or raise new
capital or a combination of these sources will be sufficient to
fund operations, debt payment requirements and capital expen-
ditures over the next twelve-month period.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

GENERAL

We are exposed to market risk attributable to changes in inter-
est rates, foreign currency exchange rates and fuel prices. We
minimize these risks through a combination of our normal oper-
ating and financing activities and through the use of derivative
financial instruments pursuant to our hedging practices and poli-
cies. The financial impacts of these hedging instruments are pri-
marily offset by corresponding changes in the underlying expo-
sures being hedged. We achieve this by closely matching the
amount, term and conditions of the derivative instrument with the
underlying risk being hedged. We do not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes.
We monitor our derivative positions using techniques including
market valuations and sensitivity analyses. (See Note 11.
Financial Instruments to our consolidated financial statements.)

INTEREST RATE RISK

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates to
our long-term debt obligations and our operating lease for Brilliance
of the Seas. At December 31, 2004, 64% of our debt was effec-
tively fixed and 36% was floating. We enter into interest rate
swap agreements to modify our exposure to interest rate move-
ments and to manage our interest expense and rent expense.

Market risk associated with our long-term fixed rate debt is the
potential increase in fair value resulting from a decrease in inter-
est rates. At December 31, 2004, our interest rate swap agree-
ments effectively changed $268.8 million of fixed rate debt with
a weighted-average fixed rate of 7.81% to LIBOR-based float-
ing rate debt. The estimated fair value of our long-term fixed rate
debt at December 31, 2004, excluding our Liquid Yield Option™
Notes and zero coupon convertible notes, was $3.1 billion using
quoted market prices, where available, or using discounted
cash flow analyses based on market rates available to us for
similar debt with the same remaining maturities. The fair value of
our associated interest rate swap agreements was estimated to
be $21.9 million as of December 31, 2004 based on quoted
market prices for similar or identical financial instruments to
those we hold. A hypothetical one percentage point decrease in
interest rates at December 31, 2004 would increase the fair
value of our long-term fixed rate debt, excluding our Liquid Yield
Option™ Notes and zero coupon convertible notes, by approx-
imately $144.1 million, net of an increase in the fair value of the
associated interest rate swap agreements.

Market risk associated with our long-term floating rate debt is
the potential increase in interest expense from an increase in
interest rates. A hypothetical one percentage point increase in
interest rates would increase our 2005 interest expense by
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approximately $9.4 million. At December 31, 2004, we have an
interest rate swap agreement that effectively changes $25 mil-
lion of LIBOR-based floating rate debt to fixed rate debt of
4.395% beginning January 2005.

Market risk associated with our operating lease for Brilliance of the
Seas is the potential increase in rent expense from an increase in
sterling LIBOR rates. As of January 2005, we have effectively
changed 58% of the operating lease obligation from a floating rate
to a fixed rate obligation with a weighted-average rate of 4.81%
through a combination of interest rate swap agreements and rate
fixings with the lessor. A hypothetical one percentage point
increase in sterling LIBOR rates would increase our 2005 rent
expense by approximately $2.0 million, based on the exchange rate
at December 31, 2004, net of the effect of interest rate swaps.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES
The estimated fair values of our Liquid Yield Option™ Notes
and zero coupon convertible notes fluctuate with the price of
our common stock and at December 31, 2004 were $962.8
million and $756.8 million, respectively. A hypothetical 10%
decrease or increase in our December 31, 2004 common
stock price would decrease or increase the value of our Liquid
Yield Option™ Notes and zero coupon convertible notes by
approximately $96.1 million and $74.3 million, respectively.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATE RISK
Our primary exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk
relates to our firm commitments under ship construction con-
tracts (including a ship lengthening contract), denominated in
euros. We entered into euro denominated forward contracts to
manage this risk. The estimated fair value of such euro denomi-
nated forward contracts at December 31, 2004, was a net unre-
alized gain of approximately $110.9 million, based on quoted mar-
ket prices for equivalent instruments with the same remaining
maturities. These euro denominated forward contracts mature
through 2007. At December 31, 2004, approximately 26% of the
cost of the ship construction contracts was exposed to fluctua-
tions in the euro exchange rate. A hypothetical 10% strengthen-
ing of the euro as of December 31, 2004, assuming no changes
in comparative interest rates, would result in a $140.6 million
increase in the United States dollar value of the foreign currency
denominated ship construction contracts. This increase would be
partially offset by an increase in the fair value of our euro denom-
inated forward contracts of approximately $104.3 million.

We are also exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctua-
tions on the United States dollar value of our foreign currency
denominated forecasted transactions. To manage this exposure,
we take advantage of any natural offsets of our foreign currency
revenues and expenses and enter into foreign currency forward
contracts and/or option contracts for a portion of the remaining

exposure related to these forecasted transactions. Our principal
net foreign currency exposure relates to the euro, the Norwegian
kroner, British pound sterling and the Canadian dollar. At
December 31, 2004, the estimated fair value of such contracts
was an unrealized loss of approximately $6.0 million based on
quoted market prices for equivalent instruments with the same
remaining maturities. A hypothetical 10% strengthening of the
principal foreign currencies as of December 31, 2004, assuming
no changes in comparative interest rates, would result in a $5.8
million increase in the United States dollar value of the 2005 for-
eign currency denominated forecasted transactions. This increase
would be offset by a decrease in the fair value of our 2005 foreign
currency forward contracts of approximately $6.4 million.

FUEL PRICE RISK

Our exposure to market risk for changes in fuel prices relates to the
consumption of fuel on our ships. Fuel cost, as a percentage of our
total revenues, was approximately 5.5% in 2004, 5.2% in 2003 and
4.5% in 2002. Historically, we have used fuel swap agreements and
zero cost collars to mitigate the financial impact of fluctuations in
fuel prices. As of December 31, 2004, we had fuel swap agree-
ments to pay fixed prices for fuel with an aggregate notional amount
of approximately $35.4 million, maturing through 2005. The esti-
mated fair value of these contracts at December 31, 2004 was an
unrealized gain of $8.1 million. We estimate that a hypothetical 10%
increase in our weighted-average fuel price from that experienced
during the year ended December 31, 2004 would increase our
2005 fuel cost by approximately $28.2 million. This increase would
be partially offset by an increase in the fair value of our fuel swap
agreements of approximately $3.9 million.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision
and with the participation of our management, including our
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation
of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the frame-
work in Internal Control-Integrated Framework, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2004. Our management’s assess-
ment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have completed an integrated audit of Royal Caribbean Cruises
Ltd.’s 2004 consolidated financial statements and of its internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and audits of its 2003
and 2002 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and
the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and
shareholders' equity, present fairly, in all material respects, the finan-
cial position of Royal Caribbean Cruises Ltd. and its subsidiaries at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States of America. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial state-
ments based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these
statements in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
appearing in this 2004 Annual Report, that the Company main-
tained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004 based on criteria established in Internal
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO”), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those
criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The
Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment
and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of
internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective inter-
nal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting
includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over finan-
cial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal con-
trol, and performing such other procedures as we consider neces-
sary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a rea-
sonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the mainte-
nance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as nec-
essary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detec-
tion of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finan-
cial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of com-
pliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Miami, Florida
March 14, 2005

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Royal Caribbean Cruises Ltd.:



Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

Passenger ticket revenues $3,359,201 $2,775,055 $2,589,942
Onboard and other revenues 1,196,174 1,009,194 ,844,405

Total revenues 4,555,375 3,784,249 3,434,347

Cruise operating expenses
Commissions, transportation and other ,822,206 ,684,344 ,669,177
Onboard and other ,300,717 ,249,537 ,208,231
Payroll and related ,487,633 ,426,462 ,314,370
Food ,269,436 ,239,483 ,255,703
Other operating ,939,391 ,781,209 ,665,736

Total cruise operating expenses 2,819,383 2,381,035 2,113,217
Marketing, selling and administrative expenses ,588,267 ,514,334 ,431,055
Depreciation and amortization expenses ,394,136 ,362,695 ,339,100

3,801,786 3,258,064 2,883,372

Operating Income ,753,589 ,526,185 ,550,975

Other income (expense)
Interest income ,009,208 ,004,519 ,012,413
Interest expense, net of interest capitalized ,(309,977) ,(268,398) ,(266,842)
Other income ,021,871 ,018,358 ,054,738

,(278,898) ,(245,521) ,(199,691)

Net Income $ ,474,691 $ ,280,664 $ ,351,284

Earnings Per Share:
Basic $ 2.39 $ 1.45 $ 1.82

Diluted (Note 8) $ 2.26 $ 1.42 $ 1.76

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

R O Y A L  C A R I B B E A N  C R U I S E S  L T D . 19

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS



As of December 31,

(in thousands, except share data) 2004 2003

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 628,578 $ 330,086
Trade and other receivables, net 84,899 89,489
Inventories 60,260 53,277
Prepaid expenses and other assets 86,869 101,698

Total current assets 860,606 574,550
Property and equipment – at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization 10,193,443 9,943,495
Goodwill – less accumulated amortization of $138,606 278,561 278,561
Other assets 631,474 526,136

$11,964,084 $11,322,742

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt $ 905,374 $ 315,232  
Accounts payable 162,973 187,756
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 330,073 271,944
Customer deposits 875,082 729,595

Total current liabilities 2,273,502 1,504,527
Long-term debt 4,826,570 5,520,572
Other long-term liabilities 59,492 34,746
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)

Shareholders’ equity
Common stock ($.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized;

201,253,140 and 196,106,658 shares issued) 2,012 1,961
Paid-in capital 2,206,157 2,100,612
Retained earnings 2,533,265 2,162,195
Accumulated other comprehensive income 71,363 5,846
Treasury stock (596,556 and 556,212 common shares at cost) ( 8,277) (7,717)

Total shareholders’ equity 4,804,520 4,262,897

$11,964,084 $11,322,742

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Operating Activities
Net income $ ,474,691 $ 280,664 $351,284
Adjustments:

Depreciation and amortization 394,136 362,695 339,100
Accretion of original issue discount on debt 52,562 48,874 46,796

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables, net (3,256) 10,011 (7,339)
Increase in inventories (6,813) (15,978) (3,806)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets (17,196) 6,670 (8,469)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable (25,987) 19,756 27,083
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other liabilities 53,851 (3,340) (2,240)
Increase in customer deposits 145,273 161,640 121,870
Other, net 9,730 (13,189) 6,191

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,076,991 857,803 870,470

Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment (630,670) (1,029,530) (689,991)
Purchases of short-term investments (732,165) (216,450) (21,995)
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments 732,165 ,216,450 21,995
Other, net (1,840) (73,114) (6,275)

Net cash used in investing activities (632,510) (1,102,644) (696,266)

Financing Activities
Repayments of long-term debt (361,386) (231,100) (603,270)
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 225,000 590,536 –
Dividends (104,521) (98,320) (100,127)
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options 98,316 45,960 6,626
Other, net (3,398) 25,267 37,973

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (145,989) 332,343 (658,798)

Net Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 298,492 87,502 (484,594)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 330,086 242,584 727,178

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 628,578 $ 330,086 $242,584

Supplemental Disclosures
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest, net of amount capitalized $ 266,037 $ 219,598 $236,523

Noncash investing and financing activities:
Acquisition of a ship through debt $ – $ – $319,951

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Accumulated
Other Total

Common Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Treasury Shareholders’
(in thousands) Stock Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Stock Equity

Balances at January 1, 2002 $1,923 $ 2,045,904 $ 1,731,423 $(16,068) $(6,598) $3,756,584
Issuance under employee related plans 7 7,745 – – (560) 7,192
Common stock dividends – – (100,127) – – (100,127)
Changes related to cash flow derivative hedges – – – 19,761 – 19,761
Net income – – 351,284 – – 351,284

Balances at December 31, 2002 1,930 2,053,649 1,982,580 3,693 (7,158) 4,034,694
Issuance under employee related plans 31 46,963 – – (559) 46,435
Common stock dividends – – (101,049) – – (101,049)
Changes related to cash flow derivative hedges – – – 11,526 – 11,526
Minimum pension liability adjustment – – – (9,373) – (9,373)
Net income – – 280,664 – – 280,664

Balances at December 31, 2003 1,961 2,100,612 2,162,195 5,846 (7,717) 4,262,897
Issuance under employee related plans 51 105,545 – – (560) 105,036
Common stock dividends – – (103,621) – – (103,621)
Changes related to cash flow derivative hedges – – – 67,082 – 67,082
Minimum pension liability adjustment – – – (1,565) – (1,565)
Net income – – 474,691 – – 474,691

Balances at December 31, 2004 $2,012 $2,206,157 $2,533,265 $71,363 $(8,277) $4,804,520

Comprehensive income is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Net income $474,691 $280,664 $351,284
Changes related to cash flow derivative hedges 67,082 11,526 19,761
Minimum pension liability adjustment (1,565) (9,373) –

Total comprehensive income $540,208 $282,817 $371,045

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 1. GENERAL

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
We are a global cruise company. We operate two cruise
brands, Royal Caribbean International and Celebrity Cruises,
with 19 and 10 cruise ships, respectively, at December 31,
2004. Our ships operate on a selection of worldwide itineraries
that call on approximately 160 destinations.

BASIS FOR PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States and are presented in United States dollars.
Estimates are required for the preparation of financial state-
ments in accordance with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples. Actual results could differ from these estimates. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions are elimi-
nated in consolidation.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Deposits received on sales of passenger cruises represent
unearned revenue and are initially recorded as customer
deposit liabilities on our balance sheet. Customer deposits are
subsequently recognized as passenger ticket revenues,
together with revenues from onboard and other goods and
services and all associated direct costs of a voyage, upon com-
pletion of voyages with durations of ten days or less and on a
pro rata basis for voyages in excess of ten days.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and marketable secu-
rities with original maturities of less than 90 days.

INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of provisions, supplies and fuel carried at
the lower of cost (weighted-average) or market.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulat-
ed depreciation and amortization. We capitalize interest as
part of the cost of acquiring certain assets. Improvement
costs that we believe add value to our ships are capitalized
as additions to the ship and depreciated over the improve-
ments’ estimated useful lives. Costs of repairs and mainte-
nance are charged to cruise operating expenses as incurred

and drydocking costs are accrued evenly over the period to
the next scheduled drydocking. The estimated cost and
accumulated depreciation of refurbished or replaced ship
components are written-off and any resulting gain or loss is
recognized in cruise operating expenses. Liquidated dam-
ages received from shipyards as a result of late delivery of
new ships are deferred and amortized in other income over
the period to which they relate, net of related expenses. We
review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate, based on estimated
future cash flows, that the carrying amount of these assets
may not be fully recoverable.

Depreciation of property and equipment, which includes amor-
tization of ships under capital leases, is computed using the
straight-line method over estimated useful lives of primarily 30
years for ships, net of a 15% projected residual value, the
shorter of the lease term or related asset life for leasehold
improvements and three to forty years for other property and
equipment. (See Note 4. Property and Equipment.)

GOODWILL
Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value
of net assets acquired. We review goodwill for impairment
annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of goodwill may not be
fully recoverable.

ADVERTISING COSTS
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred except those
costs which result in tangible assets, such as brochures,
which are treated as prepaid expenses and charged to
expense as consumed. Advertising costs consist of media
advertising as well as brochure, production and direct mail
costs. Media advertising was $133.2 million, $119.2 million
and $97.9 million, and brochure, production and direct mail
costs were $82.2 million, $73.5 million and $69.5 million for
the years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
We enter into various forward, swap and option contracts to
manage our interest rate exposure and to limit our exposure to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and fuel prices.
Generally these instruments are designated as hedges and are
recorded on the balance sheet at their fair value. Our derivative
instruments are not held for trading or speculative purposes.

At inception of the hedge relationship, a derivative instrument
that hedges the exposure to changes in the fair value of a rec-
ognized asset or liability, or a firm commitment is designated as
a fair value hedge. A derivative instrument that hedges a fore-
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casted transaction or the variability of cash flows related to a
recognized asset or liability is designated as a cash flow hedge.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as
fair value hedges are offset against changes in the fair value of
the underlying hedged assets, liabilities or firm commitments.
Changes in fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash
flow hedges are recorded as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income until the underlying hedged trans-
actions are recognized in earnings. On an ongoing basis, we
assess whether derivatives used in hedging transactions are
“highly effective” in offsetting changes in fair value or cash
flow of hedged items. If it is determined that a derivative is not
highly effective as a hedge, changes in fair value of the deriva-
tives are recognized in earnings immediately.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS
The majority of our transactions are settled in United States
dollars. Gains or losses resulting from transactions denomi-
nated in other currencies are recognized in income at each
balance sheet date.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net
income by the weighted-average number of shares of com-
mon stock outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings
per share incorporates the incremental shares issuable
upon the assumed exercise of stock options and conver-
sion of potentially dilutive securities. In addition, net
income is adjusted to add back the amount of interest rec-
ognized in the period associated with the dilutive securi-
ties. (See Note 8. Earnings Per Share.)

STOCK-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
We use the intrinsic value method to account for stock-based
employee compensation. The following table illustrates the
effect on net income and earnings per share as if we had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to such com-
pensation (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Net income, as reported $474,691 $280,664 $351,284

Deduct: Total stock-based
employee compensation 
expense determined
under fair value method 
for all awards (9,502) (11,834) (20,544)

Pro forma net income $465,189 $268,830 $330,740

Add: Interest on dilutive
convertible notes 54,530 – 18,202

Pro forma net income 
for diluted earnings 
per share $519,719 $268,830 $348,942

Weighted-average 
common shares
outstanding 198,946 194,074 192,485

Dilutive effect of stock
options and restricted
stock awards 3,888 3,023 2,926

Dilutive effect of 
convertible notes 31,473 – 13,834

Diluted weighted-
average shares 
outstanding 234,307 197,097 209,245 

Earnings per share:
Basic – as reported $ 2.39 $ 1.45 $ 1.82
Basic – pro forma $ 2.34 $ 1.39 $ 1.72
Diluted – as reported 

(Note 8) $ 2.26 $ 1.42 $ 1.76
Diluted – pro forma $ 2.22 $ 1.36 $ 1.67
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We adopted the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force 04-8
“Accounting Issues Related to Certain Features of Contingently
Convertible Debt and the Effect on Diluted Earnings Per Share,”
(“EITF 04-8”) in our fourth quarter of 2004 and restated prior
period diluted earnings per share amounts for comparative pur-
poses. The implementation of EITF 04-8 did not change our pre-
viously reported 2003 pro forma diluted earnings per share; how-
ever, it reduced our previously reported 2002 pro forma diluted
earnings per share by $0.02. Pro forma diluted earnings per
share for the year ended December 31, 2003 did not include
13.8 million shares of our common stock issuable upon conver-
sion of our zero coupon convertible notes because the effect of
including them would have been antidilutive.

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during
2004, 2003 and 2002 was $13.10, $8.18 and $6.84 per share,
respectively. Fair value information for our stock options was
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based
on the following weighted-average assumptions:

2004 2003 2002

Dividend yield 1.1% 2.7% 2.7%
Expected stock price volatility 41.6% 42.4% 42.9%
Risk-free interest rate 3% 3% 3%
Expected option life 5 years 5 years 5 years

SEGMENT REPORTING

We operate two cruise brands, Royal Caribbean International
and Celebrity Cruises. The brands have been aggregated as a
single operating segment based on the similarity of their eco-
nomic characteristics as well as product and services provided.

Information by geographic area is shown in the table below.
Passenger ticket revenues are attributed to geographic areas
based on where the reservation was made.

2004 2003 2002

Passenger ticket revenues: 
United States 82% 81% 82%
All other countries 18% 19% 18%

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In November 2004 the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs.” SFAS
No. 151 amends the guidance in Accounting Research Bulletin
No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing” to clarify the account-
ing for abnormal amounts of wasted material (spoilage). The

provisions of SFAS No. 151 are effective for inventory costs
incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The
provisions of SFAS No. 151 are not expected to have an
impact on our results of operations or financial position. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment,” (“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R super-
sedes Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and amends SFAS
No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.” SFAS 123R requires the
measurement and recognition of compensation expense at fair value
of employee stock awards, except for employee share purchase
plans if they meet certain conditions. Compensation expense for
awards and related tax effects shall be recognized as they vest.
Currently, we use the intrinsic value method to measure compensa-
tion expense for stock-based awards to our employees under APB
Opinion No. 25 and disclose pro forma information. SFAS 123R
requires adoption in our third quarter of 2005. As a result, we will
adopt SFAS 123R for all new awards and for awards modified,
repurchased or cancelled after July 1, 2005. For previously issued
awards, we will adopt SFAS 123R on a prospective basis and rec-
ognize compensation expense on the unvested portion of the
awards over the remaining vesting period. The provisions of SFAS
123R are expected to negatively impact our results of operations by
approximately $5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges
of Nonmonetary Assets, an Amendment of APB Opinion No.
29.” APB Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary
Transactions,” is based on the principle that exchanges of non-
monetary assets should be measured on the fair value of the
assets exchanged. SFAS No. 153 amends APB Opinion No. 29
to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar
productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for
exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial
substance. SFAS No. 153 is effective for nonmonetary
exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15,
2005. The provisions of SFAS No. 153 are not expected to have
an impact on our results of operations or financial position.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Reclassifications have been made to our Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002 to reflect the gross purchases and sales of
variable rate debt obligations within our investing activities. We
did not hold any of these variable rate securities as of
December 31, 2004, 2003 or 2002. As a result, these reclas-
sifications did not impact our previously reported Consolidated
Balance Sheets nor our previously reported net cash flows
from operating, investing or financing activities in our
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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NOTE 3. TERMINATION OF PROPOSED
COMBINATION WITH P&O PRINCESS CRUISES PLC

In October 2002, our proposed combination with P&O Princess
Cruises plc (“P&O Princess”) was terminated prior to its con-
summation and P&O Princess paid us a break fee of $62.5 mil-
lion. We incurred approximately $29.5 million of merger-related
costs. The net proceeds of $33.0 million were included in other
income. We also agreed to terminate, effective as of January
1, 2003, our joint venture with P&O Princess. The venture was
terminated before it commenced business operations.

NOTE 4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

2004 2003

Land $ 7,056 $ 7,056
Ships 11,056,851 10,536,947
Ships under capital leases 773,562 772,986
Ships under construction 153,415 121,167
Other 415,785 365,535

12,406,669 11,803,691
Less – accumulated

depreciation and amortization (2,213,226) (1,860,196)

$10,193,443 $ 9,943,495

Ships under construction include progress payments for the con-
struction of new ships as well as planning, design, interest, com-
mitment fees and other associated costs. We capitalized interest
costs of $7.2 million, $15.9 million and $23.4 million for the years
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Accumulated amortization
related to ships under capital leases was $206.5 million and
$183.3 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

NOTE 5. OTHER ASSETS

We hold redeemable convertible preferred stock in First
Choice Holidays PLC denominated in British pound sterling val-
ued at approximately $300 million. The redeemable convertible
preferred stock carries a 6.75% coupon. Dividends of $24.7
million, $21.5 million and $20.3 million were earned in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively and recorded in other income. If
fully converted, our holding would represent approximately a
17% interest in First Choice Holidays PLC.

VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY
We have determined that one of our minority interests, a ship repair
facility in which we invested in April 2001, is a variable interest enti-
ty; however, we are not the primary beneficiary and accordingly we 

do not consolidate this entity. As of December 31, 2004, our
investment in this entity including equity and loans, which is also our
maximum exposure to loss, was approximately $42 million.

NOTE 6. LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consists of the following (in thousands): 

2004 2003

Unsecured revolving 
credit facilities $ – $ –

Unsecured senior notes
and senior debentures,
6.75% to 8.75%, due
2005 through 2013, 
2018 and 2027 2,258,436 2,400,284

Liquid Yield OptionTM Notes 
with yield to maturity of 
4.875%, due 2021 694,316 661,640

Zero coupon convertible 
notes with yield to maturity 
of 4.75%, due 2021 408,484 390,535

$625 million unsecured term 
loan, LIBOR plus
1.25%, due 2005 575,000 625,000

$360 million unsecured 
term loan, LIBOR plus 
1.0%, due 2006 360,000 360,000

$300 million unsecured 
term loan, LIBOR plus 0.8%, 
due 2009 through 2010 200,000 200,000

$225 million unsecured 
term loan, LIBOR plus 1.75%,
due 2006 through 2012 225,000 –

Unsecured term loan, 8.0%, 
due through 2006 35,694 59,919

Term loans, 7.1% to 8.0%,
due through 2010, secured 
by certain Celebrity ships  225,964 308,842

Term loans, LIBOR plus 0.45%
to 1.535%, due through 2010,
secured by certain Celebrity ships 401,390 459,586

Capital lease obligations 
with implicit interest rates 
ranging from 6.5% to 7.2%,
due through 2011  347,660 369,998

5,731,944 5,835,804

Less – current portion  (905,374) (315,232)

Long-term portion $4,826,570 $5,520,572
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During 2004, we entered into an eight-year, $225.0 million
unsecured term loan, at LIBOR plus 1.75%. 

During 2003, we received net proceeds of $345.6 million from
the issuance, at par, of our 6.875% senior unsecured notes,
due 2013 and $244.9 million from the issuance, at a price of
99.339% of par, of our 8.0% senior unsecured notes, due 2010.

During 2003, we replaced our $1.0 billion unsecured revolving
credit facility due in June 2003 with a $500.0 million unsecured
revolving credit facility, bearing interest at LIBOR plus 1.75%,
due in March 2008. Through December 31, 2004, we increased
the commitment amount to $1.0 billion. The commitment fee is
0.6% of the undrawn portion of the revolving credit facility.

The Liquid Yield Option™ Notes and the zero coupon con-
vertible notes are unsecured zero coupon bonds with yields
to maturity of 4.875% and 4.75%, respectively, due 2021.
Each Liquid Yield Option™ Note and zero coupon convert-
ible note was issued at a price of $381.63 and $391.06,
respectively, and will have a principal amount at maturity of
$1,000. The Liquid Yield Option™ Notes and zero coupon
convertible notes are convertible at the option of the holders
into 17.7 million and 13.8 million shares of common stock,
respectively, if the market price of our common stock reach-
es certain levels. These conditions were met at December
31, 2004 for the Liquid Yield Option™ Notes and the zero
coupon convertible notes.

Commencing on February 2, 2005 and May 18, 2006, we have
the right to redeem the Liquid Yield Option™ Notes and the
zero coupon convertible notes, respectively, at their accreted
values for cash as a whole at any time, or from time to time in
part. Holders may require us to purchase any outstanding
Liquid Yield Option™ Notes at their accreted value on February
2, 2005 and February 2, 2011 and any outstanding zero
coupon convertible notes at their accreted value on May 18,
2009 and May 18, 2014. We may choose to pay the purchase
price in cash or common stock or a combination thereof. The
first put on the Liquid Yield Option™ Notes expired on
February 2, 2005 and, since the next put date is scheduled for
the year 2011, the accreted value of the notes was not includ-
ed in the schedule of annual maturities below.

We entered into a $264.0 million capital lease to finance
Splendour of the Seas and a $260.0 million capital lease to
finance Legend of the Seas in 1996 and 1995, respectively.
The capital leases each have semi-annual payments of approx-
imately $12.0 million over 15 years with final payments of
$99.0 million and $97.5 million, respectively.

Under certain of our agreements, the contractual interest rate
and commitment fee vary with our debt rating.

The unsecured senior notes and senior debentures are not
redeemable prior to maturity.

Our debt agreements contain covenants that require us, among
other things, to maintain minimum net worth and fixed charge cov-
erage ratio and limit our debt to capital ratio. We are in compli-
ance with all covenants as of December 31, 2004. Following is a
schedule of annual maturities on long-term debt as of December
31, 2004 for each of the next five years (in thousands):

Year

2005 $905,374
2006 755,603
2007 397,139
2008 313,452
2009(1) 699,492

(1)The $408.5 million accreted value of the zero coupon convertible notes at
December 31, 2004 is included in year 2009. The holders of our zero coupon
convertible notes may require us to purchase any notes outstanding at an accret-
ed value of $501.7 million on May 18, 2009. This accreted value was calculated
based on the number of notes outstanding at December 31, 2004. We may
choose to pay any amounts in cash or common stock or a combination thereof.

NOTE 7. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), which has been
in effect since January 1, 1994, facilitates the purchase by
employees of up to 800,000 shares of common stock.
Offerings to employees are made on a quarterly basis. Subject
to certain limitations, the purchase price for each share of com-
mon stock is equal to 90% of the average of the market prices
of the common stock as reported on the New York Stock
Exchange on the first business day of the purchase period and
the last business day of each month of the purchase period.
Shares of common stock of 13,281, 21,280 and 25,649 were
issued under the ESPP at a weighted-average price of $39.34,
$19.56 and $17.34 during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Under an executive compensation program approved in
1994, we will award to a trust 10,086 shares of common
stock per quarter, up to a maximum of 806,880 shares. We
issued 40,344 shares each year under the program during
2004, 2003 and 2002.

We have three Employee Stock Option Plans which provide for
awards to our officers, directors and key employees of options
to purchase shares of our common stock. The plans consist of
a 1990 Employee Stock Option Plan, a 1995 Incentive Stock
Option Plan and a 2000 Stock Award Plan. The 1990 Stock
Option Plan and the 1995 Incentive Stock Option Plan termi-
nated by their terms in March 2000 and February 2005,
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respectively. The 2000 Stock Award Plan provides for the
issuance of options and stock awards of up to 13,000,000
shares of our common stock. The 2000 Stock Award Plan pro-
vides for the issuance, in addition to nonqualifed stock options,
of (i) incentive stock options, (ii) stock appreciation rights, (iii)
restricted stock, (iv) restricted stock units and (v) performance
shares. We awarded 331,756 and 14,025 restricted stock
units in 2004 and 2003, respectively. Options and restricted
stock units outstanding as of December 31, 2004, vest over

three to five years and four to five years, respectively, from the
date of grant. Generally, the shares are forfeited if the recipient
ceases to be a director or employee before the shares vest.
Options are granted at a price not less than the fair value of the
shares on the date of grant and expire not later than ten years
after the date of grant.

Stock options activity and information about stock options out-
standing are summarized in the following tables:
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STOCK OPTIONS ACTIVITY
2004 2003 2002

Weighted– Weighted– Weighted–
Average Average Average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price

Outstanding options at January 1 11,994,522 $23.28 15,234,577 $21.63 17,022,241 $21.49
Granted 973,769 $40.34 536,991 $25.59 617,600 $20.89
Exercised (5,064,496) $19.39 (3,064,355) $14.89 (599,122) $11.10
Canceled (311,054) $30.02 (712,691) $25.72 (1,806,142) $23.61

Outstanding options at December 31 7,592,741 $27.76 11,994,522 $23.28 15,234,577 $21.63

Exercisable options at December 31 5,368,655 $25.47 7,949,284 $23.53 7,890,128 $21.82

Available for future grants at December 31 5,766,889 6,793,185 6,744,505

STOCK OPTIONS OUTSTANDING

As of December 31, 2004 Outstanding Exercisable 

Weighted– Weighted– Weighted–
Number Average Average Number Average

Exercise Price Range of options Remaining Life Exercise Price of options Exercise Price

$ 9.55 – $19.65 1,916,529 6.22 years $10.89 1,820,456 $10.55

$19.91 – $27.02 1,982,775 5.74 years $22.97 1,502,215 $23.46

$27.34 – $40.06 2,238,207 7.11 years $34.45 826,784 $31.64

$41.58 – $51.23 1,455,230 5.10 years $46.21 1,219,200 $46.02

7,592,741 6.14 years $27.76 5,368,655 $25.47



NOTE 8. EARNINGS PER SHARE

A reconciliation between basic and diluted earnings per share
is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Net income $474,691 $280,664 $351,284
Interest on dilutive 

convertible notes 54,530 18,893 18,202

Net income for diluted
earnings per share $529,221 $299,557 $369,486

Weighted-average 
common shares 
outstanding 198,946 194,074 192,485

Dilutive effect of stock
options and restricted
stock awards 4,161 3,267 3,246

Dilutive effect of 
convertible notes 31,473 13,834 13,834

Diluted weighted-average
shares outstanding 234,580 211,175 209,565 

Basic earnings per share $ 2.39 $ 1.45 $ 1.82
Diluted earnings per share $ 2.26 $ 1.42 $   1.76

In September 2004, the EITF reached a final consensus on EITF 04-8,
which requires all shares contingently issuable under our convertible
debt instruments to be included in our calculation of diluted earnings per
share, if dilutive. Shares contingently issuable under our convertible
debt instruments were previously included in our calculation of diluted
earnings per share if the share price of our common stock exceeded
the conversion trigger prices specified in the debt instruments. We
adopted the provisions of EITF 04-8 in our fourth quarter of 2004 and
restated prior period earnings per share amounts for comparative pur-
poses. The implementation of EITF 04-8 did not change our previously
reported 2003 diluted earnings per share; however, it reduced our
previously reported 2002 diluted earnings per share by $0.03.

Options to purchase 1.3 million, 5.3 million and 8.7 million shares for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively,
were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share
because the effect of including them would have been antidilutive.
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2002 did not include 17.7 million shares of our common stock
issuable upon conversion of our Liquid Yield Option™ Notes
because the effect of including them would have been antidilutive.

NOTE 9. RETIREMENT PLAN

We maintain a defined contribution pension plan covering full-time
shoreside employees who have completed the minimum period of

continuous service. Annual contributions to the plan are based on
fixed percentages of participants’ salaries and years of service, not to
exceed certain maximums. Pension cost was $12.2 million, $9.4 mil-
lion and $8.5 million for the years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

NOTE 10. INCOME TAXES

We and the majority of our subsidiaries are currently exempt from
United States corporate tax on income from the international opera-
tion of ships pursuant to Section 883 of the Internal Revenue Code.
Income tax expense related to our remaining subsidiaries was not
significant for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Final regulations under Section 883 were published on August 26,
2003, and will be effective for the year ending December 31, 2005.
These regulations confirmed that we qualify for the exemption pro-
vided by Section 883, but also narrowed the scope of activities which
are considered by the Internal Revenue Service to be incidental to the
international operation of ships. The activities listed in the regulations
as not being incidental to the international operation of ships include
income from the sale of air and other transportation such as trans-
fers, shore excursions and pre and post cruise tours. To the extent
the income from such activities is earned from sources within the
United States, such income will be subject to United States taxation.
We estimate the application of these new regulations will reduce our
2005 net income by approximately $9.5 million to $11.5 million.

NOTE 11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The estimated fair values of our financial instruments are as
follows (in thousands):

2004 2003

Cash and cash equivalents $ 628,578 $ 330,086

Long-term debt 
(including current portion
of long-term debt) (6,580,079) (6,092,777)

Foreign currency forward 
contracts and purchased 
call options in a net 
gain position 104,904 14,474

Interest rate swap agreements 
in a net receivable position 20,267 23,945

Fuel swap and zero cost 
collar agreements in a 
net receivable position 8,130 4,016

The reported fair values are based on a variety of factors and
assumptions. Accordingly, the fair values may not represent
actual values of the financial instruments that could have
been realized as of December 31, 2004 or 2003 or that will
be realized in the future and do not include expenses that
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could be incurred in an actual sale or settlement. Our financial
instruments are not held for trading or speculative purposes.

Our exposure under foreign currency contracts, interest rate and fuel
swap agreements is limited to the cost of replacing the contracts in
the event of non-performance by the counterparties to the contracts,
all of which are currently our lending banks. To minimize this risk, we
select counterparties with credit risks acceptable to us and we limit
our exposure to an individual counterparty. Furthermore, all foreign
currency forward contracts are denominated in primary currencies.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate
their fair values due to the short maturity of these instruments.

LONG-TERM DEBT
The fair values of our senior notes, senior debentures, Liquid
Yield Option™ Notes and zero coupon convertible notes were
estimated by obtaining quoted market prices. The fair values of
all other debt were estimated using discounted cash flow analy-
ses based on market rates available to us for similar debt with
the same remaining maturities.

FOREIGN CURRENCY CONTRACTS
The fair values of our foreign currency forward contracts were esti-
mated using current market prices for similar instruments. Our
exposure to market risk for fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates relates to two ship construction contracts, one ship
lengthening contract and forecasted transactions. We use foreign
currency forward contracts and purchased call options to mitigate
the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. As of
December 31, 2004, we had foreign currency forward contracts in
a notional amount of $1.2 billion maturing through 2007. The fair
value of our foreign currency forward contracts related to one ship
construction contract and the lengthening contract, designated as
fair value hedges, was a net unrealized gain of approximately $34.7
million and $3.8 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively. The fair value of our foreign currency forward contracts and
purchased call options related to the other ship construction con-
tract, designated as cash flow hedges, was an unrealized gain, net
of option premiums, of approximately $76.2 million and $11.2
million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. At
December 31, 2004, approximately 26% of the cost of the ship
contracts was exposed to fluctuations in the euro exchange rate.

INTEREST RATE SWAP AGREEMENTS
The fair values of our interest rate swap agreements were estimated
based on quoted market prices for similar or identical financial instru-
ments to those we hold. Our exposure to market risk for changes in
interest rates relates to our long-term debt obligations and our oper-
ating lease for Brilliance of the Seas. We enter into interest rate swap
agreements to modify our exposure to interest rate movements and

to manage our interest expense and rent expense.

Market risk associated with our long-term fixed rate debt is the
potential increase in fair value resulting from a decrease in inter-
est rates. As of December 31, 2004, we had interest rate swap
agreements, designated as fair value hedges, which exchanged
fixed interest rates for floating interest rates in a notional
amount of $268.8 million, maturing in 2006 through 2013.

Market risk associated with our long-term floating rate debt is
the potential increase in interest expense from an increase in
interest rates. As of December 31, 2004, we had an interest
rate swap agreement, designated as a cash flow hedge,
which, beginning January 2005, exchanges floating rate term
debt for a fixed interest rate of 4.395% in a notional amount of
$25.0 million, maturing in 2008.

Market risk associated with our operating lease for Brilliance of the
Seas is the potential increase in rent expense from an increase in
sterling LIBOR rates. As of January 2005, we have effectively
changed 58% of the operating lease obligation from a floating rate to
a fixed rate obligation with a weighted-average rate of 4.81% through
a combination of interest rate swap agreements, designated as cash
flow hedges, and rate fixings with the lessor, maturing in 2012.

FUEL SWAP AGREEMENTS

The fair values of our fuel swap and zero cost collar agreements were
estimated based on quoted market prices for similar or identical finan-
cial instruments to those we hold. Our exposure to market risk for
changes in fuel prices relates to the forecasted consumption of fuel
on our ships. Historically, we have used fuel swap and zero cost col-
lar agreements to mitigate the impact of fluctuations in fuel prices. As
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, we had fuel swap agreements,
designated as cash flow hedges, to pay fixed prices for fuel with an
aggregate notional amount of $35.4 million, maturing through 2005,
and $30.2 million, maturing through 2004, respectively. 

NOTE 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

As of December 31, 2004, we had two Freedom-class ships on
order for an additional capacity of approximately 7,200 berths. The
estimated aggregate cost of the ships is approximately $1.6 billion,
of which we have deposited $137.8 million as of December 31,
2004. (See Note 11. Financial Instruments.) We anticipate that
overall capital expenditures, including the two Freedom-class ships
on order, will be approximately $0.4 billion, $1.0 billion and $1.0 bil-
lion for 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

LITIGATION

We are routinely involved in claims typical within the cruise vaca-
tion industry. The majority of these claims is covered by insur-
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ance. We believe the outcome of such claims, net of expected
insurance recoveries, will not have a material adverse effect
upon our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

OPERATING LEASES
On July 5, 2002, we added Brilliance of the Seas to Royal
Caribbean International’s fleet. In connection with this addition,
we novated our original ship building contract and entered into an
operating lease denominated in British pound sterling. In connec-
tion with the novation of the contract, we received $77.7 million
for reimbursement of shipyard deposits previously made. The
lease payments vary based on sterling LIBOR. The lease has a
contractual life of 25 years; however, the lessor has the right to
cancel the lease at years 10 and 18. Accordingly, the lease term
for accounting purposes is 10 years. In the event of early termi-
nation at year 10, we have the option to cause the sale of the ves-
sel at its fair value and use the proceeds toward the applicable
termination obligation plus any unpaid amounts due under the
contractual term of the lease. Alternatively, we can make a termi-
nation payment of approximately £126 million, or approximately
$242 million based on the exchange rate at December 31, 2004,
and relinquish our right to cause the sale of the vessel. This ter-
mination amount, which is our maximum exposure, has been
included in the table below for noncancelable operating leases. 

In addition, we are obligated under other noncancelable oper-
ating leases primarily for offices, warehouses, computer equip-
ment and motor vehicles. As of December 31, 2004, future
minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leas-
es were as follows (in thousands):

Year

2005 $ 50,770
2006 49,067
2007 47,793
2008 47,174
2009 47,054
Thereafter (1) 424,126

$665,984

(1) Under the Brilliance of the Seas lease agreement, we may be required to make
a termination payment of approximately £126 million, or approximately $242 million
based on the exchange rate at December 31, 2004, if the lease is canceled in 2012.

Total expense for all operating leases amounted to $54.5 mil-
lion, $44.1 million and $24.3 million for the years 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

Under the Brilliance of the Seas operating lease, we have agreed
to indemnify the lessor to the extent its after-tax return is nega-
tively impacted by unfavorable changes in corporate tax rates
and capital allowance deductions. These indemnifications could

result in an increase in our lease payments. We are unable to
estimate the maximum potential increase in such lease pay-
ments due to the various circumstances, timing or combination
of events that could trigger such indemnifications. Under current
circumstances we do not believe an indemnification is probable.

OTHER
Some of the contracts that we enter into include indemnification
provisions that obligate us to make payments to the counter-
party if certain events occur. These contingencies generally
relate to changes in taxes, increased lender capital costs and
other similar costs. The indemnification clauses are often stan-
dard contractual terms and are entered into in the normal
course of business. There are no stated or notional amounts
included in the indemnification clauses and we are not able to
estimate the maximum potential amount of future payments, if
any, under these indemnification clauses. We have not been
required to make any payments under such indemnification
clauses in the past and, under current circumstances, we do not
believe an indemnification in any material amount is probable.

If A. Wilhelmsen AS. and Cruise Associates, our two principal
shareholders, cease to own a specified percentage of our com-
mon stock, we may be obligated to prepay indebtedness out-
standing under the majority of our credit facilities, which we
may be unable to replace on similar terms. If this were to occur,
it could have an adverse impact on our liquidity and operations.

At December 31, 2004, we have future commitments to pay for
our usage of certain port facilities, marine consumables, services
and maintenance contracts as follows (in thousands):

Year

2005 $ 51,888
2006 49,835
2007 36,773
2008 27,155
2009 18,860
Thereafter 76,405

$260,916

NOTE 13. RELATED PARTIES 

A. Wilhelmsen AS. and Cruise Associates collectively own approx-
imately 37.8% of our common stock and are parties to a share-
holders’ agreement which provides that our board of directors will
consist of four nominees of A. Wilhelmsen AS., four nominees of
Cruise Associates and our Chief Executive Officer. They have the
power to determine, among other things, our policies and the poli-
cies of our subsidiaries and actions requiring shareholder approval.
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NOTE 14. QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

(in thousands, except per share data) First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 

Total revenues $1,061,684 $880,164 $1,142,999 $905,841 $1,386,107 $1,120,199 $964,585 $878,045
Operating income $ 160,468 $114,942 $ 194,586 $117,203 $ 358,381 $ 249,161 $ 40,154 $ 44,879
Net income (loss) $ 95,846 $ 53,174 $ 122,159 $ 55,672 $ 282,471 $ 191,867 $ (25,785) $ (20,049)
Earnings (loss) 

per share:
Basic $ 0.49 $ 0.28 $ 0.61 $ 0.29 $ 1.42 $ 0.99 $ (0.13) $ (0.10)
Diluted $ 0.47 $ 0.27 $ 0.58 $ 0.28 $ 1.26 $ 0.89 $ (0.13) $ (0.10)

Dividends declared
per share $ 0.13 $ 0.13 $ 0.13 $ 0.13 $ 0.13 $ 0.13 $ 0.13 $ 0.13 

We adopted the provisions of EITF 04-8 in our fourth quarter of 2004 and restated prior period earnings per share amounts for
comparative purposes. (See Note 8. Earnings Per Share.) The implementation of EITF 04-8 did not change our previously report-
ed diluted earnings per share, except for a reduction of $0.07 and $0.08 per share in our third quarters of 2004 and 2003,
respectively, and a reduction of $0.01 per share in our second quarter of 2004. 

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presented below for the years 2000 through 2004 and as of the end of each such year, are
derived from our audited financial statements and should be read in conjunction with those financial statements and the related notes.

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Operating Data:
Total revenues $ 4,555,375 $ 3,784,249 $ 3,434,347 $ 3,145,250 $2,865,846
Operating income ,753,589 ,526,185 ,550,975 ,455,605 ,569,540
Net income ,474,691 ,280,664 ,351,284 ,254,457 ,445,363

Per Share Data – Diluted:
Net income(1) $ 2.26 $ 1.42 $ 1.76 $ 1.31 $ 2.31
Weighted-average shares and 

potentially dilutive shares (1) ,234,580 ,211,175 ,209,565 ,202,004 ,192,935
Dividends declared per common share $ 0.52 $ 0.52 $ 0.52 $ 0.52 $ 0.48

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets $11,964,084 $11,322,742 $10,538,531 $10,368,782 $7,828,465
Total debt, including capital leases 5,731,944 5,835,804 5,444,838 5,646,112 3,410,096
Common stock ,002,012 ,001,961 ,001,930 ,001,923 ,001,921
Total shareholders’ equity 4,804,520 4,262,897 4,034,694 3,756,584 3,615,915

(1)  We adopted the provisions of EITF 04-8 in our fourth quarter of 2004 and restated prior period diluted earnings per share amounts for comparative purposes. The
implementation of EITF 04-8 did not change our previously reported 2000 and 2003 diluted earnings per share; however, it reduced our 2002 and 2001 diluted earnings
per share by $0.03 and $0.01, respectively. (See Note 8. Earnings Per Share to our consolidated financial statements.)
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www.celebrity.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1441 Brickell Avenue
Suite 1100
Miami, Florida 33131-2330

COMMON STOCK
Transfer Agent & Registrar
Wachovia National Bank
1525 West W.T. Harris Boulevard
Building 3C3
Charlotte, North Carolina 28262-1153
www.wachovia.com

MARKET INFORMATION
Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and the Oslo Stock Exchange (“OSE”)
under the symbol “RCL”. The table below sets forth the intra-day high and low prices of our common stock as
reported by the NYSE and the OSE for the two most recent years by quarter:

As of February 28, 2005, there were 1,045 record holders of our common stock. Since certain of our
shares are held indirectly, the foregoing number is not representative of the number of beneficial owners.

ANNUAL MEETING
The annual meeting will be held on Tuesday, May 17, 2005, at 9 a.m. at the Hyatt Regency in Miami, Florida.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
You also may obtain copies of our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly financial reports, press
releases and corporate governance documents through our Investor Relations website
at www.rclinvestor.com or by contacting the Investor Relations Department at our corporate
headquarters. Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have furnished certifications
regarding the quality of our public disclosure. These certifications are included as Exhibits 31 and
32 of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. On June 23, 2004, our chief exec-
utive officer submitted an annual certification to the NYSE that stated he was not aware 
of any violation by us of the NYSE corporate governance listing standards.D
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NYSE Common Stock OSE Common Stock(1)

High Low High Low

2004
Fourth Quarter $55.47 $43.60 337.47 291.86
Third Quarter 44.95 39.10 311.76 263.63
Second Quarter 45.99 37.80 320.78 254.82
First Quarter 46.92 34.82 329.21 231.79

2003
Fourth Quarter 35.00 27.08 237.43 186.20
Third Quarter 32.68 22.27 243.89 159.06
Second Quarter 23.42 14.60 170.16 105.22
First Quarter 18.21 12.42 127.00 89.08

(1) Denominated in Norwegian kroner.


